#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUGLAS E. JAY, JR.

APPELLANT

٧.

CAUSE NO. 2008-KA-01264-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

### REPLY BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF NEWTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

CAUSE NUMBER 04-CR-044-NWG

Counsel for the Appellant:

HENRY W. PALMER Lawyers, PLLC Post Office Box 1205 Meridian, Mississippi 39302-1205 Telephone: (601) 693-8204 MSB# 3990

MARVIN E. WIGGINS, JR.
Attorney at Law
Post Office Box 696
DeKalb, Mississippi 39328
Telephone: (601) 743-5574
Facsimile: (601) 743-5575
MSB# 07188

#

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Appellant herein, Douglas E. Jay, Jr., hereby designates his issues to be considered by this Court. These issues are stated hereinbelow.

ISSUE ONE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE POST-TRIAL MOTIONS OF THE APPELLANT FOR NEW TRIAL, TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, AND/OR TO ALLOW AN OUT-OF-TIME APPEAL.

ISSUE TWO: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT CONDUCTING A HEARING IN REGARD TO THE MENTAL COMPETENCY OF THE APPELLANT.

ISSUE THREE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE MADE ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT.

ISSUE FOUR: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT THE MOTION FOR RECUSAL.

ISSUE FIVE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING TO THE APPELLANT HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY CONDUCTING THE TRIAL IN THE ABSENCE OF THE APPELLANT.

ISSUE SIX: TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE TO THE APPELLANT PRE-TRIAL BY NOT ADEQUATELY PURSUING MATTERS OF RECUSAL, SUPPRESSION, AND COMPETENCY, AND POST-TRIAL BY NOT FILING AND PURSUING ANY APPEAL OF RIGHT FOR THE APPELLANT.

ISSUE SEVEN: THE INNDICTMENT WAS ENHANCED IMPROPERLY.

ISSUE EIGHT: THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS AT TRIAL AND POST-TRIAL DENIED TO THE APPELLANT HIS FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND CONSTITUTED PLAIN ERROR.

Issue One addresses the trial court's rejection of the post-trial motions, including the authority of this Court to proceed. Issues Two, Three, and Four contend that the trial court erred in certain pre-trial matters. Issue Five involves the trial in absentia of the Appellant. Issue Six addresses the deficient performance of trial counsel, and Issue Seven involves the enhancement of sentencing, and Issue Eight concerns the effect cumulatively of the errors below.

### REPLY TO ARGUMENT OF APPELLEE

ISSUE ONE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THE POST-TRIAL MOTIONS OF THE APPELLANT FOR NEW TRIAL, TO SET ASIDE THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, AND/OR TO ALLOW AN OUT-OF-TIME APPEAL.

The Brief of the Appellant addressed in part the related issues regarding the deficiencies of trial counsel and the trial in absentia of the Appellant, Douglas Jay, Jr. [hereinafter cited as "Jay", "the Appellant", and/or "the Defendant"]. This Reply Brief will likewise involve some common discussion of these issues, and incorporates such argument as a part hereof, as well as discussed hereinbelow.

The Brief of the Appellee properly noted that the motion for new trial itemized nine (9) items for consideration and that the said motion had not been considered prior to June 18, 2008. (CP48-49; Brief of Appellee, pp. 6-7) The Appellee then digresses from its course set prior to June 18, 2008, arguing in its brief that the Appellant simply was seeking an avenue for a second appellate action. (Brief of Appellee, pp. 7-8) The State now argues that Jay sought to pursue the motion only as a means of filing the current appeal. (Brief of Appellee, p.8)

In making this new argument, the State blithely passed off defense counsel's assertion that Rule 4(e), Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, barred appellate jurisdiction until all post-trial motions were resolved and that there were some reasons why the motion had not been heard earlier. (Brief of Appellee, p.7) The State then declares that defense counsel merely was seeking an order denying the motion. (Brief of Appellee, pp.7-8)

However, the State disingenuously fails to mention that, in the previous action before this Court, Special Assistant Attorney General Laura Tedder raised exactly the same argument in the State's Motion to Dismiss Appeal and supplemental memorandum. (CP129-136) Indeed, Jay's "Memorandum Regarding Hearing of Motion for New Trial" quoted verbatim the very arguments raised by the assistant attorney general as support for Jay's position before the trial court at the June 18, 2008, hearing. (CP120-128) Jay's memorandum included as an attachment a copy of the said motion and memorandum of the Attorney General's office. (CP 129-136)

Further, defense counsel proceeded to address the history of the motion for new trial and the position of Jay, and, by incorporation, of the Attorney General, in regard to the motion and its merits. (T114-119) At that point, the trial judge cut off counsel, requesting an explanation as to why a ruling on the said motion was warranted. (T119) Only after the trial court cut off defense counsel was the matter of the denial of the motion, and the effect thereof, addressed. (T120-121)

Lastly, at no time was the State's position altered, until the Brief of the Appellee herein. Not only had the Attorney General argue that appellate consideration was premature until all pending motions were resolved, (CP129-136), but Hon. Robert Brooks, Assistant District Attorney, admitted that "there was no deadline put on hearing the motion for new trial". (T121) (emphasis added) Mr. Brooks added that "how long you had to rule on the motion, the rules are completely absent [sic] on that."

(T121) (emphasis added) Thus, the State maintained that the right to appeal was on hold until the resolution of the pending motion for new trial.

Defense counsel renewed the argument regarding the various issues in the motion for new trial, noting that the said motion had raised issues not raised in the other post-trial motions. (T124-125) The trial court then summarily overruled the motion, first issuing an order approved as to form by both counsel, and a day later issuing an sua sponte order stating that the motion had been dismissed for being heard untimely. (RE27-28; CP137-138)

As cited in the Brief of the Appellant, the trial judge did not simply fail to apply the correct standard; the lower court failed to apply any standard. This point was illustrated by the June 19, 2008, amended order denying the motion for new trial, in which the trial court stated that the motion was not timely heard. This finding did not comport with applicable standards.

The motion had been filed timely on April 26, 2005, (CP48-49) and Rule 4, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, mandates no time frame for the hearing thereof. Assistant Attorney General Tedder and Assistant District Attorney Brooks acknowledged this in their arguments. See also Phelps v. Phelps, 937 So. 2d 974, 977 ¶¶8-10 (Miss. App. 2006) (notice of appeal filed before disposition of pending post-trial motion is without effect until disposition).

The State has iterated the position that the "right result, wrong reason" theory governs this situation. (Brief of Appellee,

pp.8-9) However, this premise assumes that the issues were considered and the proper standards applied. As stated above, such did not occur below. Indeed, counsel was directed **not** to address the issues presented to the lower court.

The other post-trial motions should have been sustained, as both involved the matter of the improper trial in absentia of the Appellant. Further, in the alternative, if this Court were to determine that there is a time frame for the hearing of post-trial motions, the Appellant would argue that waiver of the said rules should be considered, pursuant to Rules 2(c) and 4(g), Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure.

As previously noted, trial counsel for Jay had timely filed the motion for new trial, but then inexplicably abandoned the motion. Counsel had a duty to pursue the motion, and the failure to do so should not redound to the Defendant below. See Allison v. State, 436 So. 2d 792, 796 (Miss. 1983) (trial counsel, not hired for appeal, filed timely notice, but failed to pursue appeal and was held in contempt). See also Triplett v. State, 579 So. 2d 555, 557-558 (Miss. 1991) (out-of-time appeal allowed where trial counsel did not file appeal, after having agreed to do so).

This Court should reverse the ruling of the lower court in regard to the post-trial motions and rule in favor of Jay. In the event of any finding that there is a time frame for hearing such motions, this Court should waive the procedural rules and rule in favor of the Appellant in regard to the issues raised in the said motions and this appeal.

ISSUE TWO: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT CONDUCTING A HEARING IN REGARD TO THE MENTAL COMPETENCY OF THE APPELLANT.

In its brief, the State asserts that the trial court is not obligated to conduct a competency hearing, merely because it had earlier directed an evaluation of the mental state of a defendant facing trial. (Brief of Appellee, pp.11-12) Further, the State argues that there was nothing in the record to indicate mental deficiency on Jay's part and that the receipt of the evaluation after the beginning of the trial was of no import. (Brief of Appellee, p.12)

In support of its assertion, the State posits **Evans v. State**, 984 So. 2d 308 (Miss. App. 2007). According to the State, **Evans** held that, if there is no threshold finding by the trial court that a defendant is incompetent to stand trial, then there is no obligation to conduct a competency hearing, notwithstanding a prior order for a mental evaluation. **Id**. at 312-313. The State argues in the instant case that the lower court made no such threshold finding. (Brief of Appellee, pp.11-12)

The State sails over one salient point in its argument. The **Evans** principle cited by the State applies where the preliminary psychiatric evaluation is ordered "without a reasonable question as to the defendant's competency". <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added) As shown in the Brief of the Appellant, such was not the case below.

Dr. Stuart Yablon, Director, The Brain Injury Program,
Methodist Rehabilitation Center, specifically wrote that Jay
suffered from severe brain trauma, including "cognitive, motor,
functional, and sensory deficits" and was "unable to participate

in any court proceedings at this time." (CP9-11A) Defense counsel moved to continue the trial to enable Jay to continue treatment and to receive psychiatric examinations. (CP9-11) There was time in the same court term and in the following terms in June, August, October, and November of 2008. Brief for the Appellant, p.26) There was no controversy regarding Jay's brain damage.

The order for a mental evaluation was entered, on the State's motion, on April 6, 2005. (CP12-13) The assessment was made on Thursday, April 7, 2005, and the report was filed on Wednesday, April 13, 2005, two (2) days after the trial on Monday, April 11, 2005. (CP37-41)

Further, on April 11, 2005, the Appellant did not appear for the trial when called by the court. Assuming that the report was filed when received and not held by the Circuit Clerk, the matter of the evaluation requested by the State was still unresolved. Notwithstanding this uncertainty, and notwithstanding the uncontradicted brain injury of the Appellant, the trial judge proceeded to trial and never considered the mental state of the Appellant to assist in his defense.

Thus, as noted in **Evans**, there was a reasonable question as to the competency of Jay to proceed with his defense. As of April 11, 2005, there still was of record no contradiction to the position of defense counsel, and, indeed, the State itself had sought the mental evaluation ordered by the lower court. The brain damage to Jay and the opinion of Dr. Yablon both created a "reasonable question" necessitating a hearing.

The State further argues that this Court "must assume that the trial court objectively considered all the facts ... which bore upon the defendant's competence." (Brief of Appellee, p.12) (quoting Magee v. State, 914 So. 2d 729, 736 (Miss. App. 2005).

Magee cited Conner v. State, 632 So. 2d 1239, 1251 (Miss. 1993).

However, this rule merely states that a mental evaluation standing alone, with no other indicia of incompetence, does not in itself warrant a competency hearing. In this case, neither Evans nor Magee would preclude a competency hearing, as there were ample grounds for further inquiry.

Further, this <u>Conner</u> cite was a concluding postlude to an rejection of an argument that a trial judge should have ordered sua sponte a competency hearing, despite there having been made no request therefor by the defense. In <u>Conner</u>, there had been an evaluation ordered a month after the arrest of the defendant, in advance of the trial. <u>Conner</u>, 632 So. 2d at 1247-1248. A report to the trial judge several weeks later apprised the court of the staff's opinion that the defendant was competent to stand trial.

Id. at 1251.

This Court cited the obligation of lower courts to determine capacity, even on the court's own motion. Id. at 1248. The Court then cut to the chase: "The real question, therefore, is whether 'reasonable grounds" existed to believe that Conner was insane." Id. Conner then cited federal authorities with approval, stating:

Did the trial judge receive information which, objectively considered, should reasonably have raised a doubt about the

defendant's competence and alerted him to the possibility that the defendant could neither understand the proceedings, appreciate their significance, nor rationally aid his attorney in his defense?

# Id. (quoting Lokos v. Capps, 625 F.2d 1258, 1261 (5th Cir. 1980)).

The <u>Conner</u> Court found that there were ample grounds indicating that the defendant was competent, thereby vitiating the need for a hearing. Chief among these grounds was the report from the hospital well in advance of the trial.

To the contrary, the trial court hereinbelow had no such report prior to trial. The lower court did have a report from Dr. Yablon and a request from counsel stating that Jay could not assist with his defense, capped by Jay's absence, inexplicable except in context of his brain injury and faulty perception.

This Court will overturn a finding of competency to stand trial only when "that finding was 'manifestly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.'" Bridges v. State, 807 So. 2d 1228, 1230 ¶10 (Miss. 2002) (quoting Emanuel v. State, 412 So. 2d 1187, 1188-89 (Miss. 1982)) The standard for competence to stand trial is whether a defendant possesses "sufficient present ability to consult with this lawyer with a reasonable degree of understanding." Martin v. State, 871 So. 2d 693, 698 ¶17 (Miss. 2004) (quoting Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960)).

<u>Drope v. Missouri</u>, 420 U.S. 162, 171 (1975) addressed a situation similar to that of the Appellant, wherein the Supreme Court held that a further inquiry was required once the issue became known to the trial court. The failure to do so denied a fair trial to the defendant. <u>Id</u>. at 174-175.

Citing **Conner**, a 1997 decision stated that the test for competency to stand trial

mandates that a defendant be one "(1) who is able to perceive and understand the nature of the proceedings; (2) who is able to rationally communicate with his attorney about the case; (3) who is able to recall relevant facts; (4) who is able to testify in his own defense if appropriate; and (5) whose ability to satisfy the foregoing criteria is commensurate with the severity and complexity of the case."

Howard v. State, 701 So. 2d 274, 280 (Miss. 1997) (quoting Conner v. State, 632 So. 2d 1239, 1248 (Miss. 1993)). Following this inquiry, "[w]here facts appear on the record which, when objectively considered, reasonably raise the question of a defendant's competence to stand trial or to continue to represent himself, the trial court is obligated by Rule [9.06] to order a competency hearing. Howard, 701 So. 2d at 282.

In <u>Conner</u> and <u>Howard</u>, no hearings were held on the competency of the defendants, each of whom had been subjects of mental evaluations. Unlike <u>Conner</u>, the <u>Howard</u> counsel had made several efforts to explain to the court the difficulties in communicating with the defendant. <u>Howard</u>, 701 So. 2d at 281.

In reversing the conviction, in part due to the lack of a competency hearing, the Court observed "that the defendant's court-appointed counsel is in the best position to know whether or not the defendant is mentally capable of executing a knowledgeable waiver of counsel." Id. (citing Metcalf v. State, 629 So. 2d 558, 563 (Miss. 1993)). The Court expanded beyond the issue of waiver of counsel, noting that the same analysis was applicable to the issue of competency to conduct his own trial.

<u>Id</u>. at 284. Further, the record indicated instances of behavior which reasonably raised questions of the defendant's competence.

<u>Id</u>. at 282. Based upon the indications found in the record and upon the concerns expressed by counsel, this Court said:

The court below could not have known whether Howard was capable of knowingly and intelligently waiving the right to counsel, as a competency hearing should have been ordered before or during the proceedings. The failure to do so, under these circumstances, constitutes error.

## Id. at 284. (emphasis added)

As set forth hereinabove, ample questions were raised in regard to Jay's competence prior to trial. Dr. Yablon's report clearly raised "reasonable doubt" of Jay's ability to perceive the nature of the proceedings and to communicate in a rational manner with counsel. Jay's memory capacity was significantly affected by his brain injury, calling into doubt Jay's ability to assist with and/or testify about issues of fact in his case, including dates, times, events, and names of witnesses. Finally, the complexity and severity of a case with possible sentences of decades in length were not within the ambit of Jay's capacity.

Before trial began on April 11, 2005, defense counsel's motion and Dr. Yablon's report were the only matters of record. Counsel was certainly in a better position to know Jay's ability than the lower court. At the very least, a question was presented. By Fifth Circuit analysis, the court had received information which, considered objectively, would have alerted the court to the need of a hearing. This Court should reverse this cause for further proceedings, including a competency hearing.

ISSUE THREE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE MADE ON BEHALF OF THE APPELLANT.

Talismanic terminology has been discounted in the review of probable cause determinations. The mere recitation by an officer that an informant has previously provided information does not suffice under the analysis.

Even where subsequently-found facts support the claims of the informant, the search warrant is to be predicated upon the veracity and reliability of the informant ante warrant, along with other information provided to the issuing court. State v. Woods, 866 So. 2d 422, 426-427 ¶14 (Miss. 2003). Without any corroborating evidence in the affidavit showing that informant was reliable and truthful, there is insufficient probable cause, even though the informant had personally seen the contraband and provided an accurate address. Id. at 427 MI14, 16. See Phinizee v. State, 983 So. 2d 322, 328 20 (Miss. App. 2007) (affidavit including information from unnamed informants also contained personal observations of officers); Roach v. State, 2007 WL 2367757 ¶¶16; 20-21 (Miss. App. 2007) (officer cited prior use of informant he had just met; that other information was accurate did not overcome lack of indicia of veracity); Rainer v. State, 944 So. 2d 115, 118 (Miss. App. 2006) ("reasonableness of official suspicion must be measured by what the officers knew before they initiated the search"). See also Florida v. J.L., 529 U.S. 266, 271 (2000) (anonymous uncorroborated tip, despite being accurate, did not suggest officers had a reasonable basis of suspecting criminal activity;

"reasonableness of official suspicion must be measured by what the officers knew before they conducted their search.").

In its brief, the State asserts that the information contained in the underlying facts and circumstances was sufficient. (Brief of Appellee pp. 13-14) However, as read by both defense counsel (T53-55) and the prosecutor, (T57) only a perfunctory "proven to be trustworthy/reliable information in the past" statement was included. The prosecutor noted that the facts sheet "meets everything in the well-known two-point test." (T57) he then states the entire spectrum of indicia of reliability presented to the issuing judge:

The next part of the two-point is the -- uh -- veracity. Your Honor, this -- he says -- he vouches for the C.I.'s veracity by stating that he is trustworthy, and the reason that he is trustworthy is that he has given me -- or she, has given me reliable information in the past.

(T57) Thus, the prosecutor acknowledged defense counsel's assertion that the facts sheet failed to mention that any reliable information leading to arrests or convictions. (T54-55)

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