IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOUGLAS E. JAY, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1264

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

THE COURT: They say your man's in the woods, Shawn.

MR, HARRIS: Literally?

THE COURT: Uh - huh. The car's there. The truck's gone.

(Transcript p. 29). As such, the trial court, after hearing Jay's second motion for a continuance due to his absence, held that:

Well, this man voluntarily left this courthouse. Uh - - he has known all the time, since December of last year, that his case was being tried today, and he was here Monday of last week. It was announced that the case would be tried today. He was there Thursday on his motion. It was announced that the case would be tried today. He was number one on the docket. He was here this morning and he met with you, and - - uh - - you said that you - - you told him to go on in the courtroom and that you'd come and get him. He left, and we recessed. We looked for him. We waited,

and -- uh -- if there's any harm that comes from him not being here, he's the one that caused it.

(Transcript p. 89). Moreover, Jay's counsel responded to the trial court's ruling by stating, "Can't - can't argue that fact Your Honor." (Transcript p. 89).

Additionally, there is no indication from the record that Jay was actually prejudiced by his absence. First, the trial judge thoroughly instructed the jury regarding his absence. The following instructions were given prior to voir dire:

I want to caution you and to admonish you, and to also instruct you, that you're not to consider the fact that [Jay] is not before the court, that he did not appear in this courtroom at this time, as any evidence of guilty of the crimes for which he is charged. He is not here for whatever reason, but you're not to take that and consider that as evidence of guilt of the crimes for which he is charged to have committed.

(Transcript p. 2). The judge again instructed the jury at the close of the trial just prior to their deliberations as follows:

The court instructs the jury that Douglas Jay is being tried in his absence, and the fact that he is not present is not an indication or admission of guilt. You, the jury, are instructed to disregard the absence of the defendant and to decide this case solely on the testimony.

(Transcript p. 91). Mississippi law is clear that jurors are presumed to follow the instructions of the court. *Grayson v. State*, 879 So.2d 1008, 1020 (Miss. 2004). "To presume otherwise would be to render the jury system inoperable." *Id*.

Second, a review of the record as a whole indicates that Jay was given a fair trial. No errors, reversible or harmless, were made. The evidence against Jay was more than sufficient to convict him of the crimes for which he was charged.

Nonetheless, Jay argues that his circumstances were similar to the ones in *Ali v. State* and *Sandoval v. State*. In *Ali v. State*, the defendant, a Somalian citizen barely able to speak English, was present in the courtroom the morning of trial but failed to show up at 1:00 p.m. when the trial was

scheduled to start and later testified that he did not understand his attorney and was under the impression that his attorney would call him to let him know when trial was to begin. 928 So.2d 237, 240 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). However, this situation is quite different from Jay's. While, like Ali, Jay was present the morning of his trial, Jay left just minutes before trial was set to begin even after being told by his attorney to go to the courtroom because trial was about to start. Likewise, *Sandoval* is distinguishable in that at the time it was decided there was no exception for when a defendant willfully, voluntarily, and deliberately takes actions to avoid trial as there was at the time of Jay's trial. As set forth above, the record clearly indicates that Jay willfully, voluntarily, and deliberately avoided trial and therefore his circumstances squarely fit into the exception carved out by *Jefferson*.

VI. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

While a defendant may raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, "this Court may determine the merits of the claim only when '(a) ... the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the Court determines that findings of fact by the trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed." Clayton v. State, 946 So.2d 796, 803 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). "A conclusion that the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions is equivalent to a finding that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial sua sponte." Id. (citing Colenburg v. State, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102 (Miss. Ct. App.1999) (Emphasis added). The record in this case does not demonstrate that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial sua sponte because of the quality of defense counsel's representation of Jay and, therefore, does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

With regard to ineffective assistance of counsel claims, this Court has held the following:

In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove (1) that his attorney's overall performance was deficient and (2) that the deficient performance, if any, was so substantial as to prejudice the defendant and deprive him of a fair trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Furthermore, there is a "strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Walters v. State*, 720 So.2d 856, 868 (Miss.1998). To overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Schmitt v. State*, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss.1990). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* "Only where it is reasonably probable that, but for the attorney's errors, the outcome of the trial would have been different will this Court find the counsel's performance was deficient." *Id.*

Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140, 1146-47 (Miss.2002) (quoting Gary v. State, 760 So.2d 743, 753 (Miss.2000)) (Emphasis added). Moreover, the Court of Appeals has held that "[i]n addition to the presumption that counsel's conduct is reasonably professional, there is a presumption that counsel's decision are strategic in nature, rather than negligent." Alonso v. State, 838 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Therefore, in order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised on direct appeal, the defendant must show "from the record that his counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance prejudiced him." Walker v. State, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686) (emphasis added). This determination is made based on the "totality of the circumstances." Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss. 1995) (citing Frierson v. State, 606 So.2d 604, 608 (Miss. 1992)). "The target of appellate scrutiny in evaluating the deficiency and prejudice prongs of Strickland is counsel's 'over-all' performance." Id.

Accordingly, Jay must, not only show that his counsel was deficient in each of the areas he alleged, but he also must show how these alleged deficiencies prejudiced his case. In order to prove

prejudice, Jay must show from the record that his counsel's "errors were of such a serious magnitude as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial because of a reasonable probability that, but for counselor's unprofessional errors, the results would have been different." *Cole*, 666 So.2d at 775 (quoting *Martin v. State*, 609 So.2d 435, 438 (Miss. 1992)). Jay has failed to meet this burden.

Jay asserts that his "trial counsel provided ineffective assistance to the Appellant pre-trial by not adequately pursuing matters of recusal, suppression, and competency, and post-trial by not filing and pursuing any appeal of right for the Appellant." (Appellant's Brief p. 45). Specifically Jay wholly failed to show how these alleged deficiencies prejudiced his case.³ His only argument with regard to prejudice is stated as follows in his brief: "The resulting prejudice included two appeal proceedings, a three-year delay in hearing a motion for new trial, no pre-trial suppression, the failure to procure the informant, and big jail time." (Appellant's Brief p. 46).

Defense counsel's alleged pre-trial deficiencies certainly caused no prejudice. Counsel's failure to file the proper affidavit in order to seek recusal did not prejudice Jay. As set forth in detail in the State's arguments with regard to Issue IV, the motion to recuse would have been properly denied on the merits even if the proper affidavit had been filed. *See Williams v. State*, 971 So.2d 581, 593 (Miss. 2007) (holding that "[i]t cannot be said that defense counsel was deficient in not making a request that could properly have been denied"). Likewise, as shown above in this brief, Jay's motion to suppress was properly denied. Additionally, defense counsel's alleged inadequate pursuit of competency issues also cause no prejudice as Mississippi law clearly establishes that Jay was not entitled to a competency hearing. Moreover, there is nothing in the record indicating that

³ The State is not conceding that Jay's attorney was deficient in his representation of Jay. The State is simply choosing to focus, for sake of brevity, on Jay's failure to satisfy the second prong of the *Strickland* analysis in order to show that his counsel was not ineffective.

Jay would have been declared incompetent had a hearing been held. Thus, no prejudice can be shown.

With regard to defense counsel's alleged post-trial deficiencies of failing to pursue an appeal, no prejudice was established as Jay's conviction and sentence are now being appealed. Jay did not lose his right to appeal his conviction and sentence as a result of his counsel's representation.

In order for any of these alleged deficiencies to constitute ineffective assistance of counsel,

Jay must be able to show that but for his counsel's deficiencies the outcome of his trial would have
been different. Jay has failed to do so.

VII. THE APPELLANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THIS ISSUE ON APPEAL AS THE ISSUE WAS NOT PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT; HOWEVER, PROCEDURAL BAR NOTWITHSTANDING, THE INDICTMENT WAS PROPER AND VALID.

Jay contends that "the indictment was enhanced improperly." (Appellant's Brief p. 50). However, Jay is procedurally barred from raising this issue as he never raised an objection at the trial court level. *See King v. State*, 739 So.2d 1055, 1058 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

Procedural bar notwithstanding, the issue is without merit. Jay relies on *Hentz v. State*, 852 So.2d 70 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) to support his argument and simply states that in *Hentz*, "the defendant claimed that enhancement terms should have been included in the charging terms of the principal offenses, not as a separate count." (Appellant's Brief p. 50). He then argued that the Court of Appeals simply held that the matter was waived and that Jay's counsel failed to object and Jay was not present to waive the issue so this Court should "reverse for resentencing on this issue." (Appellant's Brief p. 50). The *Hentz* Court, however, after noting that the matter was waived, went on to hold that "notwithstanding this Court's finding of waiver, we hold that the indictment met the requirements of URCCC 7.06 and is therefore considered a valid indictment." *Id.* at 76.

In the *Hentz* case, the indictment set forth the primary offenses in Counts I - III and set forth the State's intent to charge the defendant as a habitual offender in Count IV. Similarly, in the case at hand, the indictment set forth the primary offenses in Counts I - IV. (Record p. 3 and 5). Just under Count IV, the indictment reads as follows:

SECOND DRUG OFFENDER

And he, the said Douglas E. Jay, Jr. then and there having been convicted once previously of the felony crime of Count One - Possession of More than One Ounce of Marijuana and Count Two- Possession of Methamphetamine offenses under Section 41-29-139(c)(2) and Section 41-29-139(c)(1), Miss. Code Ann., (1972), the Mississippi Uniform Controlled Substances Law, said previous conviction having occurred on the 27th day of November, 1996, in Cause No. 4619 in the Circuit Court of Newton County, Mississippi, and from said conviction Douglas E. Jay, Jr. was sentenced in Count One to serve a term of two and one-half years and in Count Two was sentenced to serve a term of two and one-half years, this sentence to run concurrent with the sentence imposed in Count One, in the Mississippi State Penitentiary; he, the said Douglas E. Jay, Jr., therefore being a second offender pursuant to Section 41-29-147, Miss. Code Ann. (1972), against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi.

(Record p. 5). The *Hentz* Court held that "while inartfully drafted, it is clear that the State intended to, and did incorporate the enhancement language into each of the three actual charging sections, and in so doing properly concluded the indictment with the language 'against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi." *Id.* Likewise, the indictment at issue here incorporated the enhancement language into the counts set forth above and also concluded with the proper language.

Moreover, the indictment met the requirements of both Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules 7.06 and 11.03. Rule 7.06 reads as follows:

The indictment upon which the defendant is to be tried shall be a plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation. Formal and technical words are not necessary in an indictment, if the offense can be substantially described without them. An indictment shall also include the following:

- 1. The name of the accused;
- 2. The date on which the indictment was filed in court;

- 3. A statement that the prosecution is brought in the name and by the authority of the State of Mississippi;
- 4. The county and judicial district in which the indictment is brought;
- 5. The date and, if applicable, the time at which the offense was alleged to have been committed. Failure to state the correct date shall not render the indictment insufficient:
- 6. The signature of the foreman of the grand jury issuing it; and
- 7. The words "against the peace and dignity of the state."

The court on motion of the defendant may strike from the indictment any surplusage, including unnecessary allegations or aliases.

Rule 11.03(1) reads as follows:

In cases involving enhanced punishment for subsequent offenses under state statutes:

1. The indictment must include both the principal charge and a charge of previous convictions. The indictment must allege with particularity the nature or description of the offense constituting the previous convictions, the state or federal jurisdiction of any previous conviction and the date of judgment.

Furthermore, the Mississippi Court of Appeals held that "the proper test is whether the charging instrument provides 'enough information to the defendant to identify with certainty the prior convictions relied upon by the State for enhanced punishment." *Rufus v. State*, 746 So.2d 851, 852 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Benson v. State*, 551 So.2d 188, 196 (Miss.1989)). Therefore, as the indictment at issue here clearly met the requirements of Rule 7.06, Rule 11.03 and provided sufficient information to Jay to identify that the State intended to charge him as a subsequent offender and which prior convictions they were relying upon to establish that he was a subsequent offender, the indictment is valid.

VIII. THE APPELLANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM ARGUING CUMULATIVE ERROR AS THE ISSUE WAS NOT BROUGHT BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT.

Finally, Jay argues that "the cumulative effect of the errors at trial and post-trial denied to the Appellant his fundamental right of due process of law and constituted plain error." (Appellant's Brief p. 50). However, he is procedurally barred from raising this issue on appeal as it was not raised

before the trial court. *See Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1098 (Miss. 1998); *Maldonado v. State*, 796 So.2d 247, 260 -261 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); and *White v. State*, 958 So.2d 241, 246 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Procedural bar notwithstanding, "where there is no reversible error in any part, [there can be] no reversible error to the whole." *Doss v. State*, 709 So.2d 369, 401 (Miss.1996) (citing *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 136 (Miss.1987)). Thus, as the trial court committed no errors, Jay's cumulative error argument is without merit.

CONCLUSION

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